IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CORBBLIN BUSH,

Petitioner,

Supreme Court Case No.: SC04-2306

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Respondents.

Petitioner Corbblin Bush's Initial Brief

Hunter W. Carroll, FBN 0297630 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. Post Office Box 2861 St. Petersburg, FL 33731-2861 Telephone: (727) 821-7000 Facsimile: (727) 822-3768

DCA Case No.: 5D04-42

L.T. Case No.: 90-3798-CFA

-and-

Christine R. Dean, FBN 0569372 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. P.O. Drawer 190 Tallahassee, FL 32302-0190

Telephone: (850) 224-1585 Facsimile: (850) 222-0398

Counsel for Petitioner, Corbblin Bush

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Corbblin B. Bush ("Mr. Bush") pled guilty to second degree murder and attempted robbery in case number 90-3798. R. 1,7. The Eighteenth Judicial Circuit Court (Seminole County) sentenced Mr. Bush to 45 years in prison and 15 years probation to run concurrently, less 398 days jail time credit. R. 7. Mr. Bush committed these crimes on December 1, 1990, in Seminole County. R. 1-2.

1. The Grievance Requesting Additional Provisional Release Credits.

While at the Hamilton Correctional Institution-Annex, Mr. Bush filed a grievance, claiming that he was entitled to additional provisional release credits, which if granted would reduce the length of time he spent in prison. R. 16. His grievance was denied. R. 16. Mr. Bush exhausted his administrative appeals within the Department of Corrections ("the Department"). R. 17-22.

2. The "Original Mandamus Petition" filed in Leon County.

Mr. Bush challenged the Department's denial of his grievance by filing a pro se petition for writ of mandamus in the Second Judicial Circuit Court in Leon

¹ Citations to the Record on Appeal before the trial court shall be in the form R. x, with x being the page number. Citations to the Appendix to this Initial Brief shall be in the form A. x., with x being the tab number.

² This facility is in Hamilton County, which is within the territorial jurisdiction of the Third Judicial Circuit. <u>See</u> § 26.021(3), Fla. Stat. During these proceedings, the Department moved Mr. Bush to the Madison Correctional Institution, where he is currently housed. That facility is in Madison County, which is also within the territorial jurisdiction of the Third Judicial Circuit. <u>See</u> § 26.021(3), Fla. Stat.

County (the "original mandamus petition"). Judge Francis, for the Leon County Circuit Court, dismissed the petition for lack of jurisdiction.³ S. 8-9; A. 4. Specifically, the court ruled that, based on Schmidt v. Crusoe, 878 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 2003), a "challenge to the computation of [Mr. Bush's] criminal sentence in this case is a collateral criminal proceeding to the judgment and sentence which resulted in [Mr. Bush's] incarceration." S. 8-9; A. 4. In so ruling, Judge Francis concluded that the Leon Count Circuit Court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to alter the conviction and sentence entered by the Seminole County Circuit Court and therefore the correct venue for Mr. Bush's challenge was the Seminole County Circuit Court. S. 9; A. 4.

_

³ The petition for writ of mandamus filed by Mr. Bush in the Leon County Circuit Court (Corbblin Bush v. James V. Crosby, Secretary, Florida Department of Corrections, 2003 CA 002268) is not in the Record on Appeal. Judge Francis's dismissal order, however, is in the record. That dismissal order discusses Mr. Bush's original mandamus petition. That order was attached to the pro se Petition for Certiorari Mr. Bush filed at the Fifth District in this case and is in the Fifth District's record. The Fifth District's record was sent to this Court in this case; therefore, the information contained in Judge Francis's order is properly before this Court. Citations from the Fifth District's record shall be in the form S. x, with x being the page number. That order was also attached to Mr. Bush's Second Amended Initial Brief at the Fifth District.

⁴ Appointed counsel for Mr. Bush recognizes the unusual nature of discussing an order in this section of the brief which technically is not the order under review. Counsel does so, however, because that order (and many similar others issued by the Leon County Circuit Court) is the genesis of this case, and because that order illustrates why inmates' petitions ping-ponged between circuit courts post-Schmidt.

Judge Francis rendered this order on November 24, 2003. S. 9; A. 4. The record does not indicate that Mr. Bush appealed this order to the First District.⁵

3. The "Pending Mandamus Petition" filed in Seminole County.

Eight days after the Leon County Circuit Court dismissed Mr. Bush's original mandamus petition, Mr. Bush filed a new pro se petition for writ of mandamus, this time in the original sentencing court, the Seminole County Circuit Court (the "pending mandamus petition"). R. 6-22; A. 3. Mr. Bush contended in this mandamus petition that the Department erred in denying his grievance, which claimed that he is entitled to additional days of provisional release credits. R. 8. Mr. Bush filed this mandamus petition against the Secretary of the Department using the case number from his original conviction and sentence proceeding, case number 90-3798. R. 6.

Without ordering a response from the state, Judge Stephenson, for the Seminole County Circuit Court, dismissed Mr. Bush's mandamus petition. R. 23; A. 2. That court ruled that Mr. Bush's filing was a "civil petition" which was not cognizable in "a criminal case." R. 23. Judge Stephenson thus ruled that venue

_

⁵ The record does demonstrate that Mr. Bush challenged Judge Francis's dismissal order in his Petition for Certiorari filed at the <u>Fifth District</u>, which court obviously does not have appellate jurisdiction over the Leon County Circuit Court. S. 2-9. The Fifth District did not transfer the certiorari petition to the First District, nor did the it. Instead, the Fifth District denied Mr. Bush's certiorari petition challenging Judge Francis's order without prejudice to raise the issue in Mr. Bush's Initial Brief challenging the Seminole County Circuit Court's dismissal of his new mandamus petition filed in Seminole County. S. 10; A. 5.

was inappropriate in the sentencing court according to existing precedent on this issue. R. 23. Mr. Bush, still pro se, timely appealed this order to the Fifth District. R. 25.

4. The Decision Under Review.

On appeal, the Fifth District affirmed Judge Stephenson's order. <u>Bush v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 886 So. 2d 339, 339 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004); S. 11-12; A. 1. The Fifth District held that Mr. Bush's pending mandamus petition was, in fact, a civil action and that the proper venue for a petitioner seeking additional provisional release credits was Leon County, Florida, where the Department is headquartered. <u>Id.</u> The Fifth District agreed with the Seminole County Circuit Court's decision that venue was improper in the original sentencing court. <u>Id.</u>

Mr. Bush, pro se, timely petitioned this Court to review the Fifth District's decision on venue, stating that the Fifth District's decision directly conflicts with this Court's decisions in Schmidt v. Crusoe, 878 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 2003), and Baker v. State, 878 So. 2d 1236 (Fla. 2004). This Court accepted jurisdiction, ordered a briefing schedule, and appointed undersigned counsel to represent Mr. Bush before this Court on a pro bono basis.

This brief is filed pursuant to the Court's order.⁶

4

⁶ Undersigned counsel wish to express their appreciation to FSU law student and Carlton Fields' summer associate Blaise Huhta, who ably assisted them with the drafting of this Initial Brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In 2003, this Court in Schmidt v. Crusoe, 878 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 2003), held that an inmate's writ of mandamus petition challenging the Department of Correction's decision regarding the award of sentence-reducing credits was a "collateral criminal proceeding" and therefore exempt from the Prisoner Indigency Statute, section 57.085, Florida Statutes. This decision did not address the proper venue for bringing such mandamus petitions.

Since this Court released <u>Schmidt</u>, some circuit courts, including the Leon County Circuit Court, took the position that <u>Schmidt</u> implicitly overruled the existing case law that provided that such petitions are to be filed in Leon County because that is the location of the Department of Correction's headquarters. That court concluded that it no longer had jurisdiction over these petitions and that venue was now proper in the sentencing court. Other courts, however, disagreed. Cases thus began to ping pong between circuit courts.

The Leon County Circuit Court began dismissing these petitions completely or transferring them to the sentencing court. Upon receipt of these mandamus petitions, the sentencing courts either dismissed the petitions or attempted to transfer them back to the Leon County Circuit Court, because the sentencing courts took the position that venue was not proper in the sentencing courts to consider these petitions.

Mr. Bush, the petitioner here, is a casualty of this phenomonen. He originally filed a mandamus petition in the Leon County Circuit Court only to have it dismissed in favor of the sentencing court, the Seminole County Circuit Court. That court, too, dismissed his mandamus petition, noting venue was proper in Leon County Circuit Court. The Fifth District affirmed that dismissal in the decision under review.

Nothing in <u>Schmidt</u>, however, changed the well-established jurisprudence that provided venue for these mandamus petitions was appropriate in the Leon County Circuit Court by virtue of section 47.011, Florida Statutes, and the common law home venue privilege state agencies enjoy. This Court has been abundantly clear that courts are the examine the nature of filing instead of applying a one-size-fits-all label, such as "civil," "criminal," or "collateral criminal."

These mandamus petitions, including Mr. Bush's pending mandamus petition, challenge administrative decisions made in Leon County by the Department regarding the award or non-award of certain sentence reducing credits. These petitions do not challenge the validity of the judgment and sentence for which inmates like Mr. Bush are incarcerated. When examining these mandamus petitions in this light, it is clear that the sentencing court has no role in reviewing the Department's decisions on sentence reducing credits. Accordingly, venue continues to be proper in the Leon County Circuit Court.

While the Fifth District reached this conclusion in the decision under review, that court erred by affirming the sentencing court's dismissal of Mr. Bush's mandamus petition. The Florida Constitution provides that an action pending in the wrong court or one that seeks an incorrect remedy must not be dismissed based on those defects. This Court has by rule implemented that constitutional command. The Fifth District failed to adhere to that command.

Because of the confusion that abounded after this Court released <u>Schmidt</u>, and because Mr. Bush correctly filed his original mandamus petition in the Leon County Circuit Court challenging the Department's denial of his grievance, this Court in the interest of justice must permit the merits of Mr. Bush's mandamus petition to be reached without facing a procedural bar. This Court should quash the decision under review, clarify <u>Schmidt</u> and hold that venue is still proper in the Leon County Circuit Court, and instruct the Seminole County Circuit Court to transfer Mr. Bush's petition to the Leon County Circuit Court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue I in this case involves the question of whether venue is proper in a particular forum. Whether venue is proper in a particular forum is not a matter of judicial discretion but is instead a matter determined by law subject to de novo review. Kerr Constr., Inc. v. Peters Contracting, Inc., 767 So. 2d 610, 612 n.2 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000); Dave Bimini, Inc. v. Roberts, 745 So. 2d 482, 483-84 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

Issue II relates to whether the Fifth District erred in dismissing Mr. Bush's petition for writ of mandamus, as opposed to transferring it to the proper forum in the Leon County Circuit Court. This is also a question of law subject to de novo review. Mazer v. Orange County, 811 So. 2d 857, 859 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002).

ARGUMENT

Approximately two years have elapsed since Mr. Bush originally filed for mandamus relief in an article V court challenging the Department's determination of his ineligibility for certain provisional release credits. Since that time, no court has addressed the merits of his mandamus petition; instead, Mr. Bush has bounced between courts like a ping pong ball. In this time, Mr. Bush effectively has been denied access to the courts, contrary to the express guarantee of article 1, section 21, Florida Constitution ("The court shall be open to every person . . . and justice shall be administered without . . . denial or delay.").

Before this Court decided Schmidt v. Crusoe, 878 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 2003), the well-established case law provided that venue was proper in the Leon County Circuit Court to consider an inmate's mandamus petition challenging the Department's decision regarding the award of sentence reducing credits. Thus, the vast majority of these petitions were filed in the Leon County Circuit Court. That court, however, read Schmidt as an implicit, fundamental change in the law that divested subject matter jurisdiction over these petitions from that court. Thus, that court began dismissing the petitions or transferring them to the inmate's sentencing court.

Regardless of the uncertainty about venue that appears to have resulted following the release of Schmidt, Mr. Bush is entitled to have his day in court, as he has been diligently pursuing. Consistent with his original pro se arguments, Mr. Bush posits here that venue is appropriate in the Leon County Circuit Court to resolve his petition for writ of mandamus. As also discussed below, the Fifth District erred by not ordering the Seminole County Circuit Court to transfer the pending mandamus petition to the Leon County Circuit Court.

I. THE PROPER VENUE FOR MR. BUSH'S PENDING MANDAMUS PETITION IS THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT IN LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA.

The conflict issue before this Court concerns the correct venue, post-Schmidt, for mandamus actions filed by prison inmates challenging the Department's determination regarding the failure to award or the forfeiture of sentence-reducing credits such as gain time or provisional release credits. Before addressing the effect of <u>Schmidt</u> though, it is necessary to set forth the well-established law that existed prior to <u>Schmidt</u>. After reviewing <u>Schmidt</u>, Mr. Bush addresses why <u>Schmidt</u> did not alter that well-established Florida law regarding the venue question now pending at this Court.

Notably, Mr. Bush's ultimate agreement with the Fifth District's conclusion that the Leon County Circuit Court is the proper venue for his pending mandamus petition should not be read as approving the Fifth District's decision below. As explained in Issue II, the Fifth District should have reversed the trial court's dismissal and instructed that the trial court transfer Mr. Bush's pending mandamus petition to the Leon County Circuit Court. The failure to do so expressly and directly conflicts with the Second District's decision in Griffith v. Crosby, 898 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005), that requires transfer, not dismissal, in this situation.

Mr. Bush requests that this Court be sensitive to the fact that should it approve the Fifth District's decision below without qualification, Mr. Bush will never receive a ruling on the merits of his mandamus petition – that he is entitled to additional provisional release credits, a species of sentence-reducing credits. It is imperative that this Court's decision permit Mr. Bush an opportunity to advance the merits of his mandamus petition without facing any sort of procedural bar.

A. Pre-Schmidt: Mandamus Petitions Challenging Gain Time Decisions Are Civil Actions and Venue Properly Lies in Leon County Circuit Court.

It has long been established by this Court that a petition for writ of mandamus is the proper vehicle to challenge gain time decisions (or similar sentencing reducing credit decisions) because the Legislature eliminated review of such decisions under the Administrative Procedure Act. Parole & Probation

Comm'n v. Fuller, 491 So. 2d 275, 275 (Fla. 1986); Griffith v. Fla. Parole & Probation Comm'n, 485 So. 2d 818, 820-21 (Fla. 1986). It has also long been established by this Court that a writ of mandamus seeking to redress a private wrong is a civil action. E.g., Bd. of Public Instruction of Lake County v. State, 172 So. 859, 860 (Fla. 1937); City of Bradenton v. State, 160 So. 506, 507 (Fla. 1935).

Accordingly, Florida's district courts of appeal have repeatedly held that an inmate's mandamus petition challenging the Department's or the Parole and Probation Commission's computation of a sentence is sufficiently akin to a civil action. The proper venue for these actions was therefore in the Leon County Circuit Court pursuant to the general venue statute, section 47.011, Florida Statutes, and the common law home venue privilege.

Because no specific venue statute exists for petitions for writ of mandamus, courts have applied the general venue statute, section 47.011, Florida Statutes.

See, e.g., Stovall v. Cooper, 860 So. 2d 5, 7 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). This statute

provides that actions are properly maintainable in the county where the defendant resides, where the cause of action accrued, or where the property in litigation is located. § 47.011, Fla. Stat. For purposes of this statute, a state agency "resides" where its headquarters is located. <u>Stovall</u>, 860 So. 2d at 7.

The common law home venue privilege is a similar concept. It has long been the established common law of Florida that venue in civil actions brought against the state or one of its agencies or subdivisions, absent statutory waiver or exception, properly lies in the county where the state, agency, or subdivision maintains its principal headquarters. Carlile v. Game & Freshwater Fish Comm'n, 354 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 1977); Fla. Dep't of Children & Families v. Sun-Sentinel, Inc., 865 So. 2d 1278 (Fla. 2004). The purpose of this rule is to promote orderly and uniform handling of litigation against governmental entities and to help minimize expenditures of public funds and manpower. Carlile, 354 So. 2d at 364; see also Sch. Bd. of Osceola County v. State Bd. of Education, 30 Fla. L. Weekly D1050 (Fla. 5th DCA Apr. 22, 2005). A trial court does not have discretion in its application of the home venue privilege. To the contrary, a trial court must apply the home venue privilege, unless one of the exceptions is satisfied.⁷ Id.

-

⁷ None of the three exceptions apply here: (1) statutory waiver; (2) state agency as joint tortfeasor; and (3) state agency as "sword-wielder," which applies when the state agency allegedly invaded a fundamental constitutional right within the county where the suit was initiated. <u>Sun-Sentinel</u>, 865 So. 2d at 1286-88; <u>Fla. Dep't of Ins. v. Amador</u>, 841 So. 2d 612, 613-14 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003).

In cases challenging the computation of a prison sentence, the Department is the proper respondent because this is the administrative entity that calculates the sentence reducing credits and applies them to the inmate's sentence. Harris v. State, 713 So. 2d 1106, 1106 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). The Department "resides" in Leon County, because that is where its headquarters is located. Also, Leon County is the location where the ultimate decision is made regarding the award or forfeiture of these sentence reducing credits, which means the cause of action accrues there. Thus, all of Florida's district courts have repeatedly held that the proper venue for such challenges is in Leon County. See Ruiz v. Crosby, 888 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004); Stovall, 860 So. 2d at 7; Harris, 713 So. 2d at 1106; Lewis v. Fla. Parole Comm'n, 697 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); Dep't of Corrections v. Mattress, 686 So. 2d 740 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997); Singletary v. Powell, 602 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); Barber v. State, 661 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); Curry v. Wainwright, 419 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); Lyden v. Wainwright, 307 So. 2d 258 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974).8

⁸ Courts have also held that venue in these cases is appropriate in the circuit court that has territorial jurisdiction over the prison where the inmate is housed. <u>See, e.g., Griffith v. Crosby, 898 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Smith v. State, 785 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001); Johnson v. State, 765 So. 2d 310 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000); Green v. State, 698 So. 2d 575, 576 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). When an inmate files in such court, the Department may require that the petition be transferred to the Leon County Circuit Court by virtue of the common law home venue privilege.</u>

B. Schmidt: Writ Petitions Challenging Gain Time Are Collateral Criminal Proceedings.

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