IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CORBBLIN BUSH,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC 04-2306 L.T. No. 5D04-42 Circuit Court 90-3798-CFA

JAMES V. CROSBY, JR., Secretary of the Florida Department of Corrections,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOY A. STUBBS Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0062870

Office of the Attorney General The Capitol, PL-01 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 Telephone: (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case well illustrates how <u>Schmidt v. Crusoe</u>, 878 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 2003, has created confusion regarding the proper forum for Bush's mandamus petition and scores of others. Respectfully, <u>Schmidt</u> was wrongly decided and should be reconsidered. In addition to the venue issue seen here, <u>Schmidt</u> has encouraged inmates to expansively label challenges to DOC administrative actions as "collateral criminal," or to otherwise pursue less than marginally sufficient petitions for extraordinary relief related to disciplinary action or gain time calculations. Accordingly, Respondent asks this Court to hold that prisoner petitions are not collateral criminal proceedings.

In any event, the Fifth District correctly affirmed Bush's sentencing court which dismissed Bush's petition without prejudice. Venue over Bush's petition does not lie in Seminole County. Moreover, a criminal case is not the appropriate vehicle for bringing petitions challenging gain time or provisional credit decisions. While it is unfortunate that Bush misfiled his petition in his sentencing court, the Fifth District was not required to direct the transfer of Bush's case to Leon County. Any argument of procedural bar against further litigation of the merits of Bush's claims is speculative.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

Schmidt v. Crusoe should be reversed as urged by Judge Padovano of the First District.

In the words of Judge Padovano, "this case is but one example of the many problems the courts will face in the wake of the <u>Schmidt</u> decision." <u>Burgess v. Crosby</u>, 870 So. 2d 217, 221-222 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)(Padovano, J., dissenting). In urging his brethren to advocate for reversal of <u>Schmidt</u>, Judge Padovano stated:

> . . .[a] proceeding designed to afford appellate review of an administrative decision cannot be compared to a postconviction proceeding in a criminal case. The differences are both conceptual and mechanical.

The Florida courts have held that an inmate may file a petition for writ of mandamus in the circuit court to review a decision by the Department of Corrections or the Parole Commission because an appeal is not available under the Administrative Procedure Act. See Sheley v. Florida Parole Commission, 703 So. 2d 1202 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), aff'd, 720 So. 2d 216 (Fla. 1998). Although styled as a petition for writ of mandamus, the proceeding in the circuit court is essentially a review proceeding. I do not think that a petition for writ of mandamus that is used to review a decision by an administrative agency should be treated as though it were a collateral proceeding in a criminal case.

<u>Burgess</u>, 870 So. 2d at 221-222 (Padovano, J., dissenting) (emphasis added). Accordingly, Respondent urges this Court to reverse Schmidt.

For a considerable time period, the Second Judicial Circuit Court determined that it did not have jurisdiction over inmate petitions it perceived to be implicated by <u>Schmidt</u>. <u>See e.g.</u> <u>Burgess</u>, 870 So. 2d 217; <u>see also Davidson v. Crosby</u>, 883 So. 2d 866, 867 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004); <u>Fla. Dep't of Corr. v. Hanson</u>, 903 So. 2d 282 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005). The Second Circuit initially dismissed, and then later transferred, countless cases to be filed with the criminal sentencing courts.² At least one other circuit court took similar action. <u>See e.g. Massey v. Crosby</u>, 860 So. 2d 529 (4th DCA 2003)(quashing the order of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit Court, in and for Palm Beach County, which dismissed a mandamus petition on the grounds that gain time

² See e.g., McGee v. State, Case No. 1D03-5431, 2004 Fla. App. LEXIS 7776 (June 3, 2004); Reed v. Crosby, Case No. 1D03-4968, 2004 LEXIS 7054 (May 21, 2004); Miller v. State, Case No. 1D03-5090, 2004 Fla. App. LEXIS 6747 (May 17, 2004); Henriquez v. Crosby, Case no. 1D04-0161, 2004 Fla. App. LEXIS 6748 (May 17, 2004); Anderson v. Fla. Dep't of Corr., Case No. 1D04-1190, 2004 Fla. App. LEXIS 6750 (May 17, 2004); Spencer v. Crosby, Case No. 1D03-4029, 2004 LEXIS 6752 (May 17, 2004); Pate v. Crosby, Case No. 1D03-4565, 2004 LEXIS 6753 (May 17, 2004); Conley v. Crosby, Case No. 1D03-3962, 2004 Fla. App. LEXIS 6754 (May 17, 2004); Wombles v. Gladish, Case No. 1D03-3948, 2004 Fla. App. LEXIS 6756 (May 17, 2004); Nose v. Crosby, Case No. 1D03-5280, 2004 Fla. App. LEXIS 6667 (May 13, 2004); Krause v. Crosby, Case No. 1D03-3860, 870 So. 2d 962 (April 28, 2004).

challenges must be brought by a motion for post-conviction relief).

The district courts have attempted to resolve the forum issue in published opinions, holding that Leon County is the appropriate venue for gain time challenges. See Burgess, 870 So. 2d at 219; Eastman, 883 So. 2d at 891 (holding that venue for prison disciplinary report contest did not lie in Hillsborough County); Ruiz v. Crosby, 888 So. 2d 154, 155 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) (holding that the proper venue for the mandamus petition was Leon County because the Department is headquartered there). Nevertheless, contention among the circuit and district courts emerged and persisted. See e.g. Hanson, 903 So. 2d at 284 (describing the transfer of case between the circuit courts as a "ping pong game"); see e.g. Davidson, 883 So. 2d at 867 (noting that on rehearing the circuit court adhered to its conclusion regarding the forum but transferred the petition, rather than dismissing it); Henriquez v. Crosby, 887 So. 2d 428, 429 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)(illustrating that, due to the circuit court's resistance, it was necessary for the inmate to move to enforce the mandate in case number 1D04-0161).

While <u>Schmidt</u> stands, jurists and litigants will continue to be drawn to other conclusions. Jurists such as Judge Padovano and Judge Thomas agree that the criminal sentencing court is the

appropriate forum for cases deemed "collateral criminal" given the peculiar language of <u>Schmidt</u>. <u>See Fuster-Escalona v. Fla.</u> <u>Dep't of Corr.</u>, 891 So. 2d 1163, 1164 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005) (Thomas, J., concurring)(opining that the dissenting opinion in <u>Burgess</u> was the correct assessment of <u>Schmidt</u>). Further, very recently, in <u>Rankin v. State</u>, 910 So. 2d 387 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005), the Fifth DCA cited <u>Schmidt v. Crusoe</u> in the context of determining appellate indigency for an appeal of the denial of a 3.850 motion. The Court in Rankin stated:

The supreme court has concluded that the Prisoner Indigency Statute was enacted to discourage the filing of frivolous civil lawsuits, but not to prevent the filing of claims contesting the computation of criminal sentences. See Schmidt v. Crusoe, 878 So. 2d 361, 365-66 (Fla. 2003). Our sister courts have held that a trial court has no authority to order a defendant to pay any court costs and fees associated with a collateral criminal proceeding, such as for postconviction relief. See Cason v. Crosby, 892 So. 2d 536 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005); Small v. Crosby, 877 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004); Pace v. State, 763 So. 2d 375 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000).

910 So. 2d at 387 (emphasis added). By associating a 3.850 post-conviction relief with <u>Schmidt</u>, even if only for purposes of adjudicating appellate indigency claims, the Court in <u>Rankin</u> unfortunately fuels the confusion over the proper forum of gain time claims.

Adding to this is the emerging problem of inmates filing their petitions as post-conviction remedies or, in other instances, "mixing" their prison treatment claims with claims they perceive to be "collateral criminal." <u>See Bernard v. State</u>, 2005 Fla. App. LEXIS 15471, 1-2 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005)(observing that while the petitioner was asserting that his sentence is illegal, the petitioner sought compensatory and punitive damages for alleged physical and mental abused in jail because of a civil suit against DOC in which he is a witness).

Finally, petitions of less than marginal merit for extraordinary relief related to disciplinary reports or gain time calculations are re-emerging, apparently as a result of the "free" filing opportunity. Frivolous, abusive, and trivial pleadings occur across the entire spectrum of prisoner cases, from constitutionally protected habeas corpus petitions to those most easily comprehended by the general public, to wit: pancake and peanut butter petitions. <u>See Thomas v. State</u>, 904 So. 2d 502 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005)(stating that Thomas was not entitled to relief as his claims have been fully litigated more than once and are without merit); <u>see also Knox v. State</u>, 873 So. 2d 1250 (5th DCA 2004)(third attempt to litigate ex post facto challenge to forfeiture of gain time due to control release revocation). Without the "stop-and-think" (not chilling) measures of section

57.085, inmates are free to file disciplinary and gain time challenges with little regard to their merit.

Schmidt's underpinnings re-examined

The holding in <u>Schmidt</u>, that a challenge to a prisoner disciplinary report is a "collateral criminal" proceeding, was arrived at by likening Florida's Prisoner Indigency Act to the federal Prisoner Litigation Reform Act ("PLRA"). While there is no dispute that the PLRA inspired the Prisoner Indigency Act, the two statutes are not identical.

The federal judicial system and Florida's system are different. In the Federal system, prisoner cases fall within two broad and statutorily created categories, to wit: habeas corpus actions (28 U.S.C. § 2241, 28 U.S.C. 2254, 28 U.S.C. 2255), and conditions cases filed under the civil rights statutes.

Cases in Florida do not divide along the same lines. Florida has more gradations. Florida provides for habeas corpus when the relief of *immediate release* is implicated. <u>Stovall v.</u> <u>Cooper</u>, 860 So. 2d 5, 7 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2005). Rule 3.850 was created to provide a procedural mechanism for raising collateral postconviction challenges to the legality of criminal judgments that were traditionally cognizable in petitions for writs of

habeas corpus. <u>Baker v. State</u>, 878 So. 2d 1236, 1239 (Fla. 2004).

Cases involving gain time, however, are generally made by mandamus petition in the circuit court, filed as an appellate remedy. <u>Sheley v. Florida Parole Commission</u>, 703 So. 2d 1202, 1204-05 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997, <u>aff'd</u>, 720 So. 2d 216 (Fla. 1998); <u>see also Stovall</u>, 860 So. 2d at 7 (a petition for writ of mandamus is the proper method for review of the Department's denial or forfeiture of gain time).

At the federal level, Florida habeas corpus petitions and rule 3.850 proceedings progress to review under federal habeas corpus statute 28 U.S.C. § 2241 and § 2254. While gain time challenges and <u>some</u> disciplinary report challenges also progress to § 2241 and § 2254 actions,³ this does not mean that the Florida Legislature intended state cases to be divided in the same manner for purposes of the Prisoner Indigency Statute.

The Florida Legislature enacted the Prisoner Indigency Statute operating against the backdrop of Florida's congested "civil

³ <u>See Medberry v. Crosby</u>, 351 F.3d 1049 (11th Cir. 2003)(holding that the disciplinary report challenge was moot when filed where the state prisoner had already completed his term of disciplinary confinement within the prison and where the disciplinary proceeding did not affect the length of his prison custody); <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, <u>Medberry v. Crosby</u>, 124 S. Ct. 2098, 2004 U.S. LEXIS 3276 (U.S. May 3, 2004).

court dockets" which were inundated by frivolous actions filed at "public expense." Ch. 96-106, preamble, at 92-93, Laws of Though not as publicly intriguing as cases involving Fla. prisoner requests for things like satellite television, frivolous claims are also raised in cases involving gain time. Just because examples of these types of frivolous civil actions were not contained in the legislative preamble to section 57.085 does not mean that the Legislature did not intend to include them. The Legislature recognized the **detrimental effect** of such cases in its preamble clause, stating, "under current law frivolous inmate lawsuits are dismissible by the courts only after considerable expenditure of precious taxpayer and judicial resources." Ch. 96-106, preamble, at 92-93, Laws of Fla. In a similar vein, when the Legislature recognized the burdens of adjudicating untimely prison disciplinary report cases, it took action to limit the time available to bring disciplinary report challenges.⁴ See § 95.11 (8), Fla. Stat. 1994; see Ch. 95-283, §2, Laws of Fla.

⁴ The fact that the Legislature treated petitions challenging prisoner disciplinary actions as **civil** petitions in legislation just one year before enactment of section 57.085 undermines <u>Schmidt</u>'s holding that petitions challenging prisoner disciplinary proceedings where gain-time is forfeited are collateral criminal.

What about Access to Courts?

Prior to the Schmidt decision, section 57.085 was applied to gain time and prisoner disciplinary report cases for nearly seven years. The statute provides "for a partial payment 'up front' if the court determines that the inmate is unable to pay the entire filing fee at the time of filing but is able to pay some portion of it at that time." Geffken v. Strickler, 778 So. 2d 975, 976, n. 3 (Fla. 2001)(emphasis added)(explaining § 57.085(4), Fla. Stat.); see Drayton v. Moore, 807 So. 2d 819, 821 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2002)("Subsections 57.085(2), (4), and (5) allow prisoners who qualify to be granted a full or partial waiver of prepayment of court costs and fees and to thereafter make payment in installments if and when funds are deposited into their inmate accounts."). "An indigent prisoner is one who does not have sufficient funds to pay in full for a lawsuit upon filing." Johnson v. Burns, 804 So. 2d 345, 347 (Fla. 4th 2001)(citing Geffken, 778 So. 2d at 976). Accordingly, when properly applied, prisoners will not be denied access to the courts as a result of the partial prepayment provision. See Geffken, 778 So. 2d at 976.⁵

 $^{^5}$ It is noted that the First District recently adjudicated as case involving the Department's rule charging inmates for photocopies. See Smith v. Fla. Dep't of Corr., 2005 Fla. App. LEXIS 7670 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005). As currently codified, rule 33-501.302 establishes the basic copying charge and provides that

Any inmate who believes he has been erroneously denied indigency or that the indigency statute has been erroneously applied to him may avail themselves of appellate review. In <u>Saba v. Bush</u>, 883 So. 2d 858, 859 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004), the First

inmates may not be denied copies if they are unable to pay for them but sets forth the process to be followed to place a hold on an inmate's account to recoup the institution's expense. R. 33-501.302(3)(4) & (5). The First District held the photocopy lien rule exceeded the Legislature's grant of rulemaking authority. Nevertheless, the Court's observations indicate it considers the photocopy lien rule constitutional under Florida's access to courts provision. According to the First District:

"[w]hile the federal courts declined to interpret the federal right of access to the courts, as described in <u>Bounds</u>, as requiring the provision of free and unlimited photocopies to inmates for the purposes of litigation, the federal courts nonetheless interpreted the right, as described in <u>Bounds</u>, as requiring that the inmate be provided access to photocopying services, for which the inmate could be charged a fee, to the extent required to present his or her claims in court."

<u>Smith</u>, 2005 Fla. App. LEXIS * 4. The First District further observed that:

"[e]ven though this court recently recognized that a Florida inmate's implicit federal right of access to the courts, as described in <u>Bounds</u>, is "narrower" than his or her explicit right of access to the courts set forth in article I, section 21, of the Florida Constitution, <u>see Henderson v. Crosby</u>, 883 So. 2d 847, 850-54 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004), it appears unlikely that inmate access to photocopying services would need to be greater than that required by the federal right in order to conform to the broader state constitutional right of access to the courts. See id. at 857."

<u>Smith</u>, 2005 Fla. App. LEXIS * 4, n. 1.

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